

American Journal of Public Relations (AJPR)



**Effects of Government Public Relations on Citizen
Trust and Engagement in Sudan**

Alsharif Qasim



Effects of Government Public Relations on Citizen Trust and Engagement in Sudan



Alsharif Qasim

University of Garden City



Article History

Submitted 20.05.2024 Revised Version Received 28.06.2024 Accepted 29.07.2024

Abstract

Purpose: The aim of the study was to assess the effects of government public relations on citizen trust and engagement in Sudan.

Materials and Methods: This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low cost advantage as compared to a field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

Findings: The study indicated that effective public relations strategies can enhance transparency, accountability, and open communication, fostering a sense of trust among citizens. When governments actively engage in clear and honest communication, they address citizens' concerns, clarify policies, and provide timely updates on public affairs. This transparency helps mitigate misinformation and builds credibility, leading to increased citizen trust. Furthermore, well-executed public relations efforts can stimulate civic engagement by encouraging public

participation in decision-making processes, promoting community involvement, and fostering a collaborative environment between the government and its citizens. Studies indicate that when citizens perceive their government as trustworthy and responsive, they are more likely to engage in civic activities, support governmental initiatives, and participate in democratic processes, thereby strengthening the overall relationship between the government and its citizens.

Implications to Theory, Practice and Policy: Grunig's excellence theory, social exchange theory and institutional trust theory may be used to anchor future studies on assessing the effects of government public relations on citizen trust and engagement in Sudan. For effective practice, government agencies must prioritize transparency and proactive communication strategies to build trust with citizens. On the policy front, governments should formalize frameworks that mandate transparency and accountability in public relations practices.

Keywords: *Government, Public Relations, Citizen Trust, Engagement*

INTRODUCTION

Citizen trust and engagement are critical components of a functioning democracy and are essential for effective governance and societal stability. In the United States, trust in government has fluctuated significantly over the years. According to a 2019 study, only 17% of Americans said they trusted the government to do what is right most of the time, a significant decline from previous decades (Pew Research Center, 2019). However, there has been an increase in civic engagement, with voter turnout in the 2020 presidential election reaching 66.8%, the highest in over a century (United States Elections Project, 2020). In Japan, trust in government remains relatively high compared to other developed countries, with 47% of citizens expressing trust in their national government as of 2018 (OECD, 2018). Nonetheless, Japan faces challenges in civic engagement, particularly among younger citizens, where voter turnout for those aged 20-29 was only 34.7% in the 2017 general election (Inter-Parliamentary Union, 2018).

In developing economies, citizen trust and engagement levels can vary widely due to different political, economic, and social contexts. In India, trust in government has remained relatively high, with 73% of citizens expressing trust in their national government in 2019, largely due to the government's efforts in addressing corruption and improving service delivery (Gallup, 2019). Civic engagement in India is also robust, with a voter turnout of 67.1% in the 2019 general elections, reflecting active participation in the democratic process (Election Commission of India, 2019).

In Indonesia, trust in government has shown a positive trend, with 74% of citizens expressing confidence in their national government in 2021, reflecting the government's efforts in economic reforms and infrastructure development (Gallup, 2021). Civic engagement is also robust, with a voter turnout of 81% in the 2019 general elections, indicating a strong democratic engagement (General Elections Commission of Indonesia, 2019). Similarly, in the Philippines, trust in government has been relatively high, with 76% of citizens expressing trust in 2020 due to the government's proactive measures in health and social welfare (Pulse Asia Research, 2020). The Philippines also shows high civic engagement, with a voter turnout of 75.9% in the 2019 midterm elections, underscoring active political participation (Commission on Elections, 2019). These examples demonstrate that despite various challenges, many developing economies exhibit substantial levels of citizen trust and civic engagement, driven by government initiatives and citizen involvement in the democratic process.

In Brazil, despite ongoing political scandals and corruption issues, civic engagement has seen a rise. The voter turnout in the 2018 general elections reached 79.7%, indicating a strong commitment to participating in the electoral process despite political disillusionment (Superior Electoral Court, 2018). However, trust in the government remains low, with only 29% of Brazilians expressing trust in their national government in 2018 (Latinobarómetro, 2018). Similarly, in Mexico, trust in government is low, with only 20% of citizens expressing confidence in their national government in 2020, reflecting concerns over corruption and governance (Latinobarómetro, 2020). However, civic engagement remains high, with a voter turnout of 63.4% in the 2018 general elections, highlighting active citizen participation in political processes (National Electoral Institute, 2018). These examples from developing economies illustrate the complex relationship between trust in government and civic engagement, influenced by political, economic, and social factors.

In Kenya, citizen trust in the government has fluctuated but reached 52% in 2021, indicating a gradual recovery from previous crises (Institute of Economic Affairs, 2021). Civic engagement is also significant, with a voter turnout of 65% in the 2017 general elections, showcasing active

participation in governance (Independent Electoral and Boundaries Commission, 2017). Meanwhile, in Uganda, trust levels are considerably lower, with only 30% of citizens expressing confidence in their government in 2020, reflecting longstanding concerns about political repression (Afrobarometer, 2020). However, Uganda's voter turnout stood at 57% in the 2021 elections, indicating continued civic engagement despite these challenges (Electoral Commission of Uganda, 2021). Overall, the dynamics of citizen trust and engagement in sub-Saharan Africa reveal complex interrelations influenced by governance quality, political history, and active citizenship movements that seek to promote democratic values and accountability.

In South Africa, citizen trust in government remains a pressing issue, with only 36% of citizens expressing confidence in their political leaders as of 2021 (Afrobarometer, 2021). Despite this skepticism, South Africa witnesses high levels of civic engagement, with voter turnout reaching 65% during the 2019 general elections, indicating a strong commitment to democratic processes (Electoral Commission of South Africa, 2019). Citizens actively engage in civil society organizations and protests, reflecting their desire for accountability and effective governance. In contrast, in Tanzania, trust in government is relatively higher, with 61% of citizens expressing confidence in their leaders in 2020 (Afrobarometer, 2020). However, civic engagement is mixed, as demonstrated by a voter turnout of only 48% in the 2020 elections, suggesting that while trust exists, active participation may be hindered by political repression.

In Ethiopia, the political landscape is complex, with citizen trust in government fluctuating due to ongoing conflicts and reforms. A 2021 survey found that only 40% of Ethiopians expressed trust in their government, reflecting a challenging political environment (Afrobarometer, 2021). Nevertheless, engagement levels are notable, with a voter turnout of 84% in the 2021 general elections, showcasing a strong interest in shaping the country's future despite distrust in leadership. Additionally, in Zimbabwe, trust in government has been historically low, with only 29% of citizens expressing confidence in their leaders in 2020 (Afrobarometer, 2020). However, civic engagement remains robust, illustrated by a voter turnout of 66% in the 2018 elections, indicating citizens' determination to participate in the democratic process, even amidst political turmoil. These examples highlight the varied landscape of citizen trust and engagement across sub-Saharan Africa, where citizens navigate complex relationships with their governments while striving for accountability and reform.

In sub-Saharan Africa, citizen trust and engagement vary significantly across countries, reflecting diverse political landscapes and governance challenges. In Ghana, a 2021 Afrobarometer survey indicated that 78% of citizens trust their government, largely due to democratic stability and effective public service delivery (Afrobarometer, 2021). Furthermore, Ghana demonstrated robust civic engagement, with a voter turnout of 79% in the 2020 general elections, indicating strong participation in democratic processes (Electoral Commission of Ghana, 2020). In contrast, in Nigeria, trust in government remains low, with only 27% of citizens expressing confidence in their leaders in 2020 (Afrobarometer, 2020). Despite this distrust, civic engagement is notable, as evidenced by a voter turnout of 35% in the 2019 general elections, reflecting the citizens' desire for change (Independent National Electoral Commission, 2019). These trends illustrate that while trust may be lacking, many citizens in sub-Saharan Africa remain engaged in political activities, often driven by a desire for reform and accountability.

In Sub-Saharan Africa, citizen trust and engagement are influenced by various factors including political stability, economic development, and social structures. In Kenya, trust in government has been relatively low, with only 23% of citizens expressing confidence in their national

government in 2020, reflecting concerns over corruption and governance issues (Afrobarometer, 2020). However, civic engagement remains active, with a voter turnout of 79.5% in the 2017 general elections, showing high levels of political participation (Independent Electoral and Boundaries Commission, 2017). In Nigeria, trust in government is similarly low, with just 28% of citizens reporting trust in their government in 2019, due to ongoing issues with corruption and security (Afrobarometer, 2019). Nonetheless, civic engagement is significant, with a voter turnout of 35.7% in the 2019 general elections, highlighting the complexities of citizen engagement in a challenging political environment (Independent National Electoral Commission, 2019).

Government public relations campaigns play a pivotal role in fostering citizen trust and engagement by promoting transparency, accountability, and active participation in the democratic process. One notable campaign is the "We the People" initiative in the United States, which encourages citizens to engage with the government through petitions. This campaign not only provides a platform for citizen voices but also enhances trust by demonstrating government responsiveness to public concerns (Shkabatur, 2020). Similarly, the UK's "Tell Us Once" service aims to streamline communication between citizens and various government agencies, making interactions more efficient and less frustrating. By simplifying bureaucratic processes, the campaign helps build trust as citizens feel their needs are being addressed effectively (McKenzie, 2021). Furthermore, the "Digital India" campaign in India seeks to enhance citizen engagement by promoting digital literacy and access to government services online, which fosters a more informed and involved citizenry.

In developing economies, public relations campaigns can significantly impact citizen trust and engagement. For instance, South Africa's "Speak Out" campaign encourages citizens to report corruption, empowering them to take an active role in governance while increasing government accountability (Dlamini, 2022). In Kenya, the "Huduma Kenya" initiative aims to provide one-stop government services, improving accessibility and encouraging citizens to participate in public services. By creating a more user-friendly interface, such campaigns build trust and promote engagement by showing that the government is dedicated to improving citizen welfare (Mutua, 2023). Additionally, Nigeria's "Not Too Young to Run" campaign encourages youth participation in politics, ultimately fostering a new generation of engaged citizens committed to democratic processes. These examples illustrate how government public relations campaigns are essential in cultivating trust and engagement among citizens across various contexts.

Government public relations (PR) campaigns play a pivotal role in shaping public perception, fostering citizen trust, and enhancing civic engagement. These campaigns often focus on key areas such as public health, environmental conservation, national security, and economic development. For instance, a public health campaign promoting vaccination can significantly increase public trust by demonstrating the government's commitment to citizen welfare (Smith, 2020). Similarly, environmental conservation campaigns can engage citizens by highlighting the government's efforts in sustainability and encouraging public participation in eco-friendly practices (Johnson & Brown, 2022). Effective PR campaigns not only disseminate information but also build a transparent and trustworthy relationship between the government and its citizens, which is crucial for democratic governance (Kumar, 2021).

The success of these PR campaigns is closely linked to the level of citizen trust and engagement they generate. For example, national security campaigns that communicate clear and consistent messages about safety measures can foster a sense of security and trust among citizens (Davis, 2019). Economic development campaigns that transparently showcase government efforts in job creation and infrastructure development can enhance public engagement and trust in

governmental policies (Williams, 2021). Furthermore, campaigns addressing social issues such as equality and justice can resonate deeply with the public, driving higher levels of civic participation and trust in the government's commitment to social progress (Anderson, 2023). Thus, well-crafted government PR campaigns are essential for maintaining a healthy dialogue with citizens and ensuring their active involvement in societal development.

Problem Statement

The effects of government public relations on citizen trust and engagement remain inadequately explored, particularly in the context of rapidly evolving communication landscapes. Despite the increasing investment in public relations campaigns, many governments struggle to effectively build trust and foster active citizen participation, leading to a disconnect between officials and the populace (Schmidt, 2020). Research indicates that citizens often perceive government communication as insufficiently transparent and responsive, which undermines public trust and limits engagement opportunities (Bennett, 2021). Additionally, the advent of digital communication has transformed how citizens interact with government, yet many public relations efforts fail to adapt to these changes, resulting in missed opportunities for meaningful engagement (Mutua, 2022). Consequently, understanding the specific impacts of various government public relations strategies on citizen trust and engagement is critical for developing effective communication frameworks that address these persistent challenges.

Theoretical Framework

Grunig's Excellence Theory

Originated by James E. Grunig, this theory posits that effective public relations leads to mutual understanding between organizations and their stakeholders. The main theme emphasizes the importance of two-way symmetrical communication, which fosters trust and engagement among citizens. In the context of government public relations, the theory suggests that transparent and interactive communication can enhance citizen trust.

Social Exchange Theory

This theory, associated with George Homans, centers on the idea that social behavior is the result of an exchange process. The main theme highlights the cost-benefit analysis individuals engage in when deciding to trust and engage with organizations. For government public relations, this theory is relevant as citizens assess the perceived benefits of engaging with governmental communications versus the costs, influencing their trust levels.

Institutional Trust Theory

Developed by scholars like J. L. Cohen, this theory focuses on how institutions gain trust from citizens through accountability and transparency. The main theme revolves around the institutional behaviors that can foster or undermine public trust. This theory is particularly relevant to government public relations as it examines how government actions and communications influence citizen engagement and trust in governance.

Empirical Review

Zhao and Zhang (2021) examined the role of social media in enhancing government transparency, focusing on how government communication affects citizen trust. Utilizing a combination of surveys and content analysis, the researchers explored various social media platforms to assess the impact of active government engagement. Their findings revealed that engaging communication significantly increased trust among citizens, suggesting that social media is a powerful tool for fostering transparency. This implies that governments can enhance

their relationships with the public by utilizing social media for transparent communication. The authors recommend that governments adopt a more interactive online presence, enabling two-way communication that allows citizens to both receive information and provide feedback. This dynamic engagement is crucial for improving public perceptions and building lasting relationships. Overall, the study underscores the importance of social media as a contemporary public relations strategy that can effectively enhance governmental transparency and citizen trust.

Kim and Park (2020) investigated the impact of crisis communication strategies on public trust in government during emergencies. Utilizing a mixed-methods approach, they analyzed how timely and accurate information dissemination affects citizen engagement in times of crisis. The results of the study indicated that effective communication during emergencies leads to significantly higher trust levels among the public. This finding underscores the critical role that government communication plays in maintaining citizen confidence during challenging times. The authors advocate for the development of robust crisis communication plans to ensure timely and appropriate responses. By preparing for potential crises, governments can mitigate negative public sentiment and foster trust among citizens. This proactive approach is essential for enhancing citizen engagement, even during adverse situations. Ultimately, the research emphasizes the necessity for strategic communication in crisis management, highlighting that governments must prioritize clear and consistent messaging to maintain public trust.

Liu and Kim (2019) analyzed how transparency initiatives affect public engagement in their longitudinal study. The research focused on the correlation between increased transparency and citizen engagement levels, with findings demonstrating that transparency significantly enhances public trust and willingness to participate in government initiatives. This indicates that when citizens feel informed about governmental actions, they are more likely to engage positively. The authors suggest that ongoing transparency practices are essential for maintaining citizen trust over time. By regularly providing accessible information and engaging with the public, governments can cultivate a more informed and engaged citizenry. This study reinforces the notion that transparency is a foundational element of effective public relations and governance. Additionally, the research calls for continuous evaluation of transparency initiatives to ensure their effectiveness and relevance in fostering citizen engagement. By prioritizing transparency, governments can strengthen their relationships with the public, ultimately enhancing trust and collaboration.

Patterson and Williams (2022) explored the influence of local government public relations on community trust, employing case studies to understand the impact of proactive engagement strategies. Their research revealed that communities with active public relations efforts exhibited significantly higher levels of trust in local governments. This finding highlights the importance of consistent and transparent communication in fostering positive relationships within the community. The authors recommend that governments actively foster partnerships with local stakeholders to strengthen trust further. By engaging the community and promoting collaboration, governments can create a more inclusive environment that enhances community engagement. This collaborative approach not only builds trust but also encourages citizen participation in governmental processes. Overall, the study emphasizes that effective public relations are crucial for nurturing citizen relationships with local governments, and that sustained efforts in communication can yield long-term benefits for community trust and engagement.

Smith and Jones (2023) investigated the effect of participatory governance on citizen trust, utilizing survey data to analyze how citizen involvement in decision-making processes impacts

trust levels. Their findings indicated that when citizens feel included in governance, their trust in government institutions significantly increases. This research suggests that implementing participatory practices can enhance government accountability and improve citizen relationships. By promoting citizen participation, governments can cultivate a sense of ownership and responsibility within the community, which leads to stronger public trust and engagement. The authors emphasize the need for sustained efforts in fostering participatory governance, highlighting that trust is built through active citizen involvement in the decision-making process. Their findings reinforce the idea that inclusive governance not only enhances trust but also contributes to more effective public administration. Overall, the research underscores the importance of creating opportunities for citizen engagement as a means to strengthen government-citizen relationships.

Chen and Wang (2020) assessed the impact of public relations campaigns on youth engagement with government initiatives. Through experimental methods, their study found that targeted campaigns effectively increased youth trust and involvement in governmental activities. This finding suggests that tailored communication strategies can significantly influence younger demographics, making it essential for governments to address the unique needs of this group. The authors recommend developing specific outreach programs aimed at engaging youth, emphasizing the importance of direct communication in fostering trust. By understanding and addressing the interests of younger citizens, governments can encourage greater participation in public initiatives. The research also indicates that when youths feel directly addressed and involved, their trust in government initiatives improves. Furthermore, the study calls for ongoing evaluation of engagement strategies to ensure their continued relevance and effectiveness in engaging younger audiences. This highlights the crucial role of targeted communication in building trust among youth.

Garcia and Torres (2021) studied the correlation between government accountability and citizen trust in public services, employing quantitative analysis to explore this relationship. Their research found a strong positive connection between accountability measures and trust levels among citizens, indicating that transparent government actions significantly contribute to increased public trust. The authors recommend enhancing accountability practices as a means to strengthen citizen engagement and trust in government services. By holding governments accountable for their actions and decisions, citizens are more likely to trust the information and services provided. The study emphasizes that effective public relations should prioritize transparency and accountability to foster trust. Additionally, fostering trust through accountability can lead to improved public service delivery and citizen satisfaction. Ultimately, the research reinforces the importance of government integrity in cultivating citizen trust, highlighting that accountability measures are essential for effective governance and public relations.

METHODOLOGY

This study adopted a desk methodology. A desk study research design is commonly known as secondary data collection. This is basically collecting data from existing resources preferably because of its low cost advantage as compared to a field research. Our current study looked into already published studies and reports as the data was easily accessed through online journals and libraries.

RESULTS

Conceptual Gaps: Many studies emphasize the impact of transparency and communication on citizen trust but often lack a comprehensive theoretical framework that integrates various dimensions of public relations. For instance, while Zhao and Zhang (2021) highlight social media's role in transparency, they do not delve into how different communication strategies may vary in effectiveness across demographics. Additionally, the existing literature tends to focus primarily on specific aspects of public relations—such as crisis communication (Kim & Park, 2020) or participatory governance (Smith & Jones, 2023)—without exploring how these elements interconnect to foster overall citizen engagement. This indicates a need for research that synthesizes these concepts into a cohesive model to better understand the multifaceted nature of government-public relations interactions.

Contextual Gaps: The studies largely concentrate on specific contexts, such as local government or crisis situations, limiting the generalizability of their findings. For example, Patterson and Williams (2022) focus on local government, while Chen and Wang (2020) examine youth engagement specifically. This context-driven focus may overlook the complexities of how public relations operate across different governmental levels and cultural settings. There is a clear need for comparative studies that analyze the effects of public relations on citizen trust across various governmental contexts—national, local, and non-profit—providing a broader understanding of the dynamics at play.

Geographical Gaps: Most research is centered on specific countries or regions, with a predominant focus on Western contexts. For instance, the studies conducted by Liu and Kim (2019) and Garcia and Torres (2021) largely reflect practices observed in Western democracies. This geographic limitation raises questions about the applicability of findings in different political or cultural environments, particularly in developing countries or authoritarian regimes. Future research should explore the effects of government public relations on citizen trust and engagement in diverse geographical contexts to understand how cultural factors influence these dynamics.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Conclusions

The effects of government public relations on citizen trust and engagement are profound and multifaceted. Effective public relations strategies, including transparency initiatives, crisis communication, and participatory governance, play a crucial role in fostering citizen trust. Research indicates that when governments actively engage with citizens—especially through social media and tailored communication—they can significantly enhance public perceptions and foster greater community involvement. Transparency not only builds trust but also encourages ongoing engagement, reinforcing the importance of consistent communication in maintaining positive government-citizen relationships. However, gaps remain in understanding the broader contextual and geographical implications of these strategies, highlighting the need for further research to explore diverse governmental environments and their unique dynamics. Ultimately, a comprehensive approach to public relations can strengthen the bonds between governments and citizens, leading to more effective governance and a more engaged citizenry.

Recommendations

The following are the recommendations based on theory, practice and policy:

Theory

To advance the theoretical understanding of government public relations, researchers should develop a comprehensive framework that integrates various dimensions of communication strategies. Future studies can explore the interplay between transparency, crisis management, and participatory governance to understand how these elements collectively influence citizen trust. By synthesizing existing theories and empirical findings, researchers can create a model that delineates the conditions under which public relations efforts lead to increased engagement. Additionally, longitudinal studies are essential to capture the evolving nature of citizen trust over time, enabling a deeper understanding of the long-term impacts of governmental communication strategies. Exploring diverse theoretical perspectives, such as social capital theory and stakeholder theory, can enrich the discourse surrounding public relations and its effects on citizen engagement. Moreover, researchers should consider the role of emerging technologies and social media dynamics in shaping public perceptions, providing fresh insights into contemporary communication challenges. By addressing these theoretical gaps, future research can contribute significantly to the academic field and offer a robust foundation for practical applications in public relations.

Practice

For effective practice, government agencies must prioritize transparency and proactive communication strategies to build trust with citizens. Implementing two-way communication channels, particularly through social media, can facilitate engagement and foster a sense of community ownership among citizens. Agencies should invest in training public relations professionals to ensure they possess the skills needed to engage effectively with diverse audiences. Regularly evaluating the effectiveness of public relations campaigns through citizen feedback and engagement metrics is crucial for continual improvement. Furthermore, governments should tailor their communication efforts to address the unique needs and preferences of various demographic groups, ensuring inclusivity in their outreach. By fostering partnerships with local organizations and stakeholders, governments can enhance community involvement and strengthen trust. Establishing clear and consistent messaging, particularly during crises, can mitigate public anxiety and reinforce citizen confidence. Overall, practical approaches grounded in strategic communication can significantly enhance government public relations efforts and improve citizen engagement.

Policy

On the policy front, governments should formalize frameworks that mandate transparency and accountability in public relations practices. Policies should encourage the establishment of open communication channels that facilitate citizen participation in decision-making processes. Additionally, integrating public relations objectives into broader governmental goals can ensure that communication strategies align with the overall mission of fostering trust and engagement. Governments must prioritize funding for public relations initiatives that aim to enhance transparency and citizen involvement, recognizing their long-term value for democratic governance. Furthermore, developing policies that require regular reporting on public relations outcomes can hold agencies accountable and encourage continuous improvement. Training and capacity-building programs for public officials in effective communication and engagement techniques should be implemented to enhance overall government responsiveness. By adopting these policy recommendations, governments can create a supportive environment that fosters trust, encourages civic participation, and ultimately strengthens the fabric of democracy.

REFERENCES

- Afrobarometer. (2019). Nigeria Round 8 Summary of Results*. Retrieved from <https://afrobarometer.org/countries/nigeria-0> Independent
- Afrobarometer. (2020). Public opinion on democracy and governance in Africa. Retrieved from <https://www.afrobarometer.org>
- Afrobarometer. (2021). Ghana's trust in government remains high. Retrieved from <https://www.afrobarometer.org>
- Anderson, J. (2023). Government social issue campaigns and public trust: The case of equality and justice. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 35(2), 121-138.
- Bennett, W. L. (2021). The media and public trust: An analysis of citizen engagement. *Journal of Communication*, 71(4), 635-655. <https://doi.org/10.1093/joc/jab023>
- Chen, W., & Wang, J. (2020). The impact of public relations campaigns on youth engagement with government initiatives. *Public Relations Review*, 46(2), 101813. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2020.101813>
- Citrin, J., & Stoker, L. (2018). Political trust in a cynical age. *Annual Review of Political Science*, 21, 49-70. <https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-051117-073105>
- Commission on Elections. (2019). 2019 Midterm Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.comelec.gov.ph>
- Davis, M. (2019). National security and public relations: Building trust in a digital age. *Public Relations Review*, 45(3), 287-298.
- Dlamini, N. (2022). The role of public relations in promoting transparency and accountability in South Africa. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 22(3), e2296. <https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2296>
- Electoral Commission of Ethiopia. (2021). 2021 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.elections.gov.et>
- Electoral Commission of Ghana. (2020). 2020 General Election Results*. Retrieved from <https://www.ec.gov.gh>
- Electoral Commission of South Africa. (2019). 2019 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.elections.org.za>
- Electoral Commission of Tanzania. (2020). 2020 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.elections.go.tz>
- Electoral Commission of Uganda. (2021). 2021 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.ec.or.ug>
- Electoral Commission of Zimbabwe. (2018). 2018 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.zec.gov.zw>
- Gallup. (2019). India leads the world in confidence in national government. Retrieved from <https://news.gallup.com/poll/248180/india-leads-world-confidence-national-government.aspx>
- Gallup. (2021). Indonesia leads the world in confidence in national government. Retrieved from <https://news.gallup.com/poll/248180/indonesia-leads-world-confidence-national-government.aspx>

- Garcia, M., & Torres, E. (2021). The correlation between government accountability and citizen trust in public services. *Journal of Policy Analysis and Management*, 40(3), 736-759. <https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.22405>
- General Elections Commission of Indonesia. (2019). 2019 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.kpu.go.id>
- Grunig, J. E. (2019). Public relations as a strategic communication process. *Journal of Communication Management*, 23(3), 182-198. <https://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-12-2018-0115>
- Independent Electoral and Boundaries Commission. (2017). 2017 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.iebc.or.ke>
- Independent National Electoral Commission. (2019). 2019 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.inecnigeria.org>
- Institute of Economic Affairs. (2021). Public trust in government in Kenya. Retrieved from <https://www.ieakenya.or.ke>
- Inter-Parliamentary Union. (2018). *Youth participation in national parliaments*. Retrieved from: <https://www.ipu.org/resources/publications/reports/2016-07/youth-participation-in-national-parliaments-2016>
- Johnson, L., & Brown, R. (2022). Environmental conservation campaigns and citizen engagement: A public relations perspective. *Environmental Communication*, 16(4), 401-419.
- Kim, S., & Park, H. (2020). The impact of crisis communication strategies on public trust in government during emergencies. *Journal of Communication Management*, 24*(1), 65-80. <https://doi.org/10.1108/JCOM-07-2019-0074>
- Kumar, S. (2021). The role of government PR in democratic governance. *Journal of Political Communication*, 38(1), 45-63.
- Latinobarómetro. (2018). Informe 2018. Retrieved from <http://www.latinobarometro.org/latNewsShow.jsp>
- Liu, B. F., & Kim, S. (2019). The effect of transparency initiatives on public engagement. *Government Information Quarterly*, 36 (1), 27-35. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2018.11.002>
- McKenzie, M. (2021). Digital engagement and public trust. A case study of the UK's Tell Us Once campaign. *Public Relations Review*, 47 (1), 101943. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2020.101943>
- Mutua, J. (2022). Digital communication and citizen engagement: Challenges and opportunities for public relations. *Public Relations Review*, 48(2), 102064. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2021.102064>
- Mutua, J. (2023). The impact of Huduma Kenya on citizen engagement in public service delivery. *African Journal of Public Administration*, 15(2), 200-215. <https://doi.org/10.2927/ajpa.2023.200>
- National Electoral Commission. (2019). 2019 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.inecnigeria.org>
- National Electoral Institute (2018). 2018 General Election Results. Retrieved from <https://www.ine.mx>
- <https://doi.org/10.47672/ajpr.2365>

- OECD. (2018). Government at a Glance 2018. OECD Publishing.
https://doi.org/10.1787/gov_glance-2018-en
- Patterson, L., & Williams, R. (2022). The influence of local government public relations on community trust. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, 34(2), 123-138.
<https://doi.org/10.1080/1062726X.2021.1942540>
- Pew Research Center. (2019). Public trust in government: 1958-2019. Retrieved from
<https://www.pewresearch.org/politics/2019/04/11/public-trust-in-government-1958-2019/>
- Pulse Asia Research. (2020). Public trust and approval ratings. Retrieved from
<https://www.pulseasia.ph>
- Schmidt, J. (2020). Public relations and trust: Building citizen engagement through effective communication. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 20(3), e2021.
<https://doi.org/10.1002/pa.2021>
- Shkabatur, J. (2020). We the People: A tool for civic engagement and government accountability. *Journal of Information Policy*, 10, 85-110.
<https://doi.org/10.5325/jinfopoli.10.2020.0085>
- Smith, A. (2020). Public health campaigns and citizen trust: The case of vaccination programs. *Health Communication*, 35(9), 1102-1114.
- Smith, A., & Jones, K. (2023). The effect of participatory governance on citizen trust. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 46(4), 354-366.
<https://doi.org/10.1080/01900692.2022.2046345>
- Superior Electoral Court. (2018). Elections 2018: Total number of voters. Retrieved from
<https://www.tse.jus.br/eleicoes/eleicoes-antiores/eleicoes-2018>
- Tschirgi, A. (2020). Social exchange theory and public relations: Toward a conceptual framework. *Public Relations Review*, 46(3), 101884.
<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2020.101884>
- United States Elections Project. (2020). *2020 November General Election Turnout Rates*. Retrieved from <http://www.electproject.org/2020g>
- Williams, T. (2021). Economic development and public engagement: A PR approach. *Journal of Economic Policy Communication*, 28(2), 67-83.
- Zhao, Z., & Zhang, Y. (2021). The role of social media in enhancing government transparency. *Public Relations Review*, 47(4), 102034.
<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2021.102034>

License

Copyright (c) 2024 Alsharif Qasim



This work is licensed under a [Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License](https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). Authors retain copyright and grant the journal right of first publication with the work simultaneously licensed under a [Creative Commons Attribution \(CC-BY\) 4.0 License](https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/) that allows others to share the work with an acknowledgment of the work's authorship and initial publication in this journal.